RECEIVED

Mar 25 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

EMMANUEL M. RODRIGUEZ,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001061

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Mar 25 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to request voir dire to ascertain potential juror bias against undocumented Mexican transsexuals?

STATEMENT

In April of 2014,¹ the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Emmanuel Marquez Rodriguez,² for trafficking heroin, indictment #2013-GS-23-007983. (App. pp. 281-282). On September 8, 2014, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson. John Crangle represented Petitioner at trial. Ryan Holloway prosecuted the case. The jury found Petitioner guilty. Judge Culbertson sentenced Petitioner to the maximum sentence of forty (40) years. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served and the direct appeal perfected. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction in an unpublished opinion, State v. Rodriguez, 2016-UP-320 (S.C. Ct.App. filed June 22, 2016). (App. pp. 323-324). Petitioner filed for rehearing. (App. pp. 325-327). The Court of Appeals denied rehearing on August 18, 2016. Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the South Carolina Supreme Court on September 16, 2016. (App. pp. 328-341). The State filed a return on September 19, 2016. (App. pp. 342-366). The South Carolina Supreme Court denied the petition on September 29, 2017.

On November 17, 2016, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief. (App. pp.367-377). The State filed a return on November 15, 2019. (App. pp. 378-385). Petitioner filed an amended application on March 3, 2020. (App. pp. 401-402). On June 2, 2021, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Debra R. McCaslin. Susannah Ross represented Petitioner

¹ The indictment number reflects the year 2013. The date below the witness's name is 2013. The indictment is stamped filed in the clerk's office on September 3, 2013. The year 2013 is scratched out and replaced with the year 2014 as the term and stamped 2014, on the other side of the indictment. (App. pp. 281-282).

² As noted in the first footnote of the order of dismissal, "At the start of the hearing Ross [PCR counsel] informed the Court that Applicant identifies as a female, who prefers to be referred to by the pronouns 'she' and 'her,' and that Applicant answers to the name of 'Monica.' The lawyers, witnesses, and this Court frequently referred to Applicant at the evidentiary hearing using in accordance with Applicant's wishes. This Court will continue that practice in this order, but is noting the fact here for the sake of clarity." (App. p. 495).

at the PCR hearing. Taylor Smith represented the State. In a written order filed July 27, 2021, Judge McCaslin denied relief and dismissed the application. (App. pp. 495-527). On August 6, 2021, Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend. (App. pp. 528-545). The State filed a return on August 12, 2021. (App. pp. 546-549). Judge McCaslin denied the motion to alter or amend on August 20, 2021. (App. pp. 550-551). A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on September 20, 2021. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge erred in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to request voir dire to ascertain potential juror bias against undocumented Mexican transsexuals.

The jury found Petitioner guilty of trafficking heroin. The defense at trial was that Petitioner was a mule and only transported the heroin under duress from members of a drug cartel to whom she owed money for bringing her back into the United States. (App. pp. 247-251). Petitioner testified that her parents first brought her to the United States from Mexico when she was seventeen. (App. p. 221, lines 1-9). Petitioner testified at trial that she had been deported to Mexico in 2012. (App. p. 221, lines 19-22). Petitioner testified that she was transsexual. (App. p. 222, lines 3-4). Petitioner believed her life was in danger in Mexico because she was transsexual. (App. p. 222, line 19 – p. 223, lines 1-3). Petitioner testified that a woman named Diane helped her return to the United States. (App. p. 223, line 4 – p. 224, 225, lines 1-18). Diane and her brothers were part of a cartel and involved with drug trafficking. (App. p. 224, line 10 – p. 225, lines 1-2). Petitioner owed Diane money for bringing her back to the United States and agreed to transport the heroin after being threatened by the brother. (App. p. 226, line 13 – p. 227, lines 1-1-23).

During jury deliberations the jury asked the judge to clarify the role of coercion and duress. (App. p. 274, lines 2-7). The judge re-charged the jury on the defense of duress. (App. p. 274, line 8 – p. 275, lines 1-8). The jury, who was not questioned about possible bias against undocumented Mexican transsexuals, did not accept the duress defense and found Petitioner guilty. The trial judge sentenced Petitioner to the maximum sentence of forty (40) years although Petitioner had no prior drug convictions, only a DUI arrest and immigration violation. (App. p. 229, lines 18-20; p. 279, lines 1-3; p. 427, lines 1-16).

Petitioner alleged that trial counsel was ineffective “. . . for not asking questions in voir dire about whether prospective jurors could be fair and impartial to a Mexican transvestite . . .” (App. p. 406, lines 9-12). During the PCR hearing Petitioner testified that she was from Mexico, was a transsexual and prefers to be referred to as Monica. (App. p. 411, lines 1-2). Petitioner testified that at the time of her arrest in 2013, she was in transition and had breasts. (App. p. 411, lines 3-10).

During the PCR hearing trial counsel was asked, “Did you consider asking for a question about whether members of the jury pool could be fair to a defendant who was an illegal immigrant and a transgender person?” (App. p. 445, lines 10-13). Trial counsel answered:

I didn't - - I didn't plan to ask those questions. I wouldn't have normally asked it. I think it kind of draws attention, the jury's eye to those issues. And I didn't know at the time whether my client was going to testify or not. You never know. I mean, you plan on a client testifying, but I didn't ask any voir dire. I think it - - you know, you're either going to get - you're going to highlight the issue, which is not something I really wanted to do, or at worse you're going to antagonize a juror to think that I think they're all prejudiced.

(App. p. 445, lines 14-23). Upon cross-examination trial counsel agreed that the judge, rather than counsel, asks the jury questions during voir dire and the jury would not have known that questions about their ability to be fair to Mexican transsexuals in the country illegally were requested by defense counsel. (App. p. 451, lines 6-16).

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge first found that counsel was not deficient writing:

Trial counsel did not submit voir dire to Judge Culbertson in order to question the prospective jurors about their ability to be fair and impartial to a transgendered person of Mexican origin. Applicant argues that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for not doing so.

This Court finds that Applicant has failed to prove that trial counsel's performance was deficient due to his failure to submit proposed voir dire on the topic to Judge Culbertson. This Court is required to view trial counsel's performance according to the performance's “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Cherry*, at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Applicant has given this Court no reason to

conclude that prevailing professional norms require a criminal defense attorney representing a defendant who is of Mexican origin, a transgendered person, or both, to attempt to voir dire prospective jurors on their biases with regard to someone falling into these three categories.

(App. p. 522). The PCR judge erred. The jury knew that Petitioner was a transsexual Mexican in the country illegally. (App. p. 221, lines 1-2; p. 222, lines 3-4; p. 249, line 9). PCR counsel argued that Petitioner's status as an undocumented Mexican transsexual was an integral part of the case and the jurors seated needed to be impartial with regard to that status. (App. p. 449, line 13 – p. 450, lines 1-17).

The PCR judge additionally found that trial counsel articulated a strategy for not requesting voir dire about bias toward undocumented Mexican transsexuals writing, "Trial counsel testified that he would not ask such questions of prospective jurors out of fear that they would infer from the question that he was assuming that they are intolerant. Trial counsel testified that he and Applicant had not yet decided at the start of the trial whether or not Applicant would testify during the defense's case-in-chief, and he did not want to tip the jury that Applicant was a Mexican transgendered person unless necessary, and that Applicant was not dressed as a female and presented as a male at trial." (App. p. 523). First, as trial counsel agreed, the judge asks questions on voir dire. Any purported negative inference would not have been attributed to defense counsel. Second, as discussed above, Petitioner's status as an undocumented Mexican transsexual was inextricably linked to the duress defense. As a result, this alleged trial strategy was not a valid, reasonable trial strategy. Petitioner established that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request voir dire to ascertain bias.

The PCR judge also found no prejudice resulting from trial counsel's failure to question jurors about bias writing:

This Court finds that Applicant has failed to prove that there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of trial would have been different had trial counsel submitted proposed voir dire about the prospective jurors' personal opinions as to Mexican and transgendered people. "[A] criminal defendant has no right to a trial by any particular jury, but only a right to a trial by a competent and impartial jury." Magazine at 617, 606 S.E.2d at 765 (quotation omitted).

(App. p. 523). The PCR judge erred. There is a reasonable probability that trial counsel's failure to ascertain bias deprived Petitioner the right to an impartial jury.

The PCR judge's reliance on Magazine v. State, 361 S.C. 610, 606 S.E.2d 761 (2004), abrogated by Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018), is misplaced. In Magazine trial counsel was alleged to have been ineffective for failing to use eight of his ten peremptory strikes after the trial judge granted the State's Batson³ motion. In Magazine the South Carolina Supreme Court found that:

The PCR judge correctly found that counsel failed to properly evaluate and select jury members. Counsel admitted that he gave up his initial strategy and ended up selecting jurors that he had struck the first time—jurors whose names he had written "No" next to. In other words, counsel did not even show that he had a trial strategy for jury selection. Nevertheless, Respondent did not present any evidence to support a finding that counsel's error resulted in a violation of Respondent's right to a trial by a competent and impartial jury.

361 S.C. at 618, 606 S.E.2d at 765. In Magazine the Court found trial counsel ineffective for failing to properly use peremptory strikes but found no resulting prejudice. In the present case trial counsel used nine of his ten strikes. (App. pp. 30-31). The strikes used, however, could not have been based on bias against undocumented Mexican transsexuals because no questions were requested to determine those biases.

Petitioner does not challenge trial counsel's use of peremptory strikes, as in Magazine. Instead, Petitioner challenges trial counsel's failure to request voir dire to ascertain potential bias.

³ Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986).

Trial counsel's failure to ascertain bias prevented counsel from intelligently exercising his right to peremptory challenges and challenges for cause. Petitioner had the right to question jurors about bias against Mexicans, bias against undocumented individuals, and bias against transsexuals. Prejudice resulted from the deficient performance.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052). First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “Under this prong, ‘[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.’” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id.

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request voir dire to ascertain racial bias, immigration status bias, and sexuality bias. Petitioner's status as an undocumented Mexican transsexual was an important part of the duress defense. Absent a reasonable and valid trial strategy, not present in this case, prejudice should be presumed when there is a total lack of voir dire as to these types of bias. This is especially true in light of Rule 606(b), SCRE, with regard to immigration status bias, and sexuality bias.

In Pena-Rodriguez v. Colorado, 137 S. Ct. 855, 869, 197 L. Ed. 2d 107 (2017), the United States Supreme Court wrote, “For the reasons explained above, the Court now holds that where a juror makes a clear statement that indicates he or she relied on racial stereotypes or animus to convict a criminal defendant, the Sixth Amendment requires that the no-impeachment rule give way in order to permit the trial court to consider the evidence of the juror's statement and any resulting denial of the jury trial guarantee.” The no impeachment rule referenced by the Court is found in Federal Rule 606(b). As the Pena-Rodriguez Court noted, “Some version of the no-impeachment rule is followed in every State and the District of Columbia.” 137 S. Ct. at 865. The South Carolina “no-impeachment rule” provides:

Upon an inquiry into the validity of a verdict or indictment, a juror may not testify as to any matter or statement occurring during the course of the jury's deliberations or to the effect of anything upon that or any other juror's mind or emotions as influencing the juror to assent to or dissent from the verdict or indictment or concerning the juror's mental processes in connection therewith, except that a juror may testify on the question whether extraneous prejudicial information was improperly brought to the jury's attention or whether any outside influence was improperly brought to bear upon any juror. Nor may a juror's affidavit or evidence of any statement by the juror concerning a matter about which the juror would be precluded from testifying be received for these purposes.

Rule 606(b), SCRE. If jurors came forward, as jurors did in Pena-Rodriguez, and reported a juror making statements exhibiting overt racial bias against Hispanics or Mexicans, the Sixth Amendment, pursuant to Pena-Rodriguez, would allow the judge to consider the evidence as an exception to Rule 606(b), SCRE. There was no evidence presented in this case of a juror making overtly racially biased statements against Hispanics or Mexicans. Importantly, however, it is unclear if the holding in Pena-Rodriguez would extend to overt statements of bias based on immigration status or sexuality. Prejudice should be presumed because, arguably, Rule 606(b), SCRE, prohibits a judge from considering biased juror statements about something other than race.

In Nance v. Ozmint, 367 S.C. 547, 551–52, 626 S.E.2d 878, 880 (2006), the South Carolina

Supreme Court wrote:

In Cronic, the Court identified three distinct situations in which a presumption of prejudice is appropriate. First, prejudice is presumed when the defendant is completely denied counsel “at a critical stage of his trial.” Cronic, 466 U.S. at 659, 104 S.Ct. 2039. Second, per-se prejudice occurs if there has been a constructive denial of counsel. This happens when a lawyer “entirely fails to subject the prosecution’s case to meaningful adversarial testing,” thus making “the adversary process itself presumptively unreliable.” Id. Third, the Court identified certain instances “when although counsel is available to assist the accused during trial, the likelihood that any lawyer, even a fully competent one, could provide effective assistance is so small that a presumption of prejudice is appropriate without inquiry into the actual conduct of the trial.” Id. (citing Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S.Ct. 55, 77 L.Ed. 158 (1932)).

The third Cronic presumption of prejudice should apply in the present case. If jurors had come forward and reported a juror making overtly bias statements against undocumented individuals or transsexual individuals, Rule 606(b) would have arguably prevented the judge from considering those statements, making it impossible to demonstrate prejudice. Prejudice should be presumed.

In Ham v. South Carolina, 409 U.S. 524, 526–27, 93 S. Ct. 848, 850, 35 L. Ed. 2d 46 (1973), the United States Supreme Court wrote:

The dissenting justices in the Supreme Court of South Carolina thought that this Court’s decision in Aldridge v. United States, 283 U.S. 308, 51 S.Ct. 470, 75 L.Ed. 1054 (1931), was binding on the State. There a Negro who was being tried for the murder of a white policeman requested that prospective jurors be asked whether they entertained any racial prejudice. This Court reversed the judgment of conviction because of the trial judge’s refusal to make such an inquiry. Mr. Chief Justice Hughes, writing for the Court, stated that the ‘essential demands of fairness’ required the trial judge under the circumstances of that case to interrogate the veniremen with respect to racial prejudice upon the request of counsel for a Negro criminal defendant. Id., at 310, 51 S.Ct., at 471.

The Court’s opinion relied upon a number of state court holdings throughout the country to the same effect, but it was not expressly grounded upon any constitutional requirement. Since one of the purposes of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment is to insure these ‘essential demands of fairness,’

e.g., Lisenba v. California, 314 U.S. 219, 236, 62 S.Ct. 280, 289, 86 L.Ed. 166 (1941), and since a principal purpose of the adoption of the Fourteenth Amendment was to prohibit the States from invidiously discriminating on the basis of race, Slaughter-House Cases, 16 Wall. 36, 81, 21 L.Ed. 394 (1873), we think that the Fourteenth Amendment required the judge in this case to interrogate the jurors upon the subject of racial prejudice. South Carolina law permits challenges for cause, and authorizes the trial judge to conduct voir dire examination of potential jurors. The State having created this statutory framework for the selection of juries, the essential fairness required by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires that under the facts shown by this record the petitioner be permitted to have the jurors interrogated on the issue of racial bias. Cf. Groppi v. Wisconsin, 400 U.S. 505, 508, 91 S.Ct. 490, 492, 27 L.Ed.2d 571 (1971); Bell v. Burson, 402 U.S. 535, 541, 91 S.Ct. 1586, 1590, 29 L.Ed.2d 90 (1971).

Later in Rosales-Lopez v. United States, 451 U.S. 182, 189–90, 101 S. Ct. 1629, 1635, 68

L. Ed. 2d 22 (1981), the Court discussed Ham, writing:

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