STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to
Greenville County
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Trial Judge
Debra R. McCaslin, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001061

RECEIVED

Jul 08 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

EMMANUEL M. RODRIGUEZ,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE E. DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
803-734-2875

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

In an effort to circumvent her failure to submit any evidence of prejudice, Petitioner posits Rule 606(b)⁴ would have precluded such evidence. This assertion, however, ignores an important exception to this rule. Although Rule 606(b) excludes most juror testimony about deliberations, juror testimony is admissible when it “raises sufficient questions of fundamental fairness.” Shumpert v. State, 378 S.C 62, 67, 661 S.E.2d 369, 372 (2009).

In State v. Hunter, 320 S.C. 85, 88, 463 S.E.2d 314, 316 (1995), our Supreme Court determined that “allegations of racial prejudice involve principles of fundamental fairness,” and the trial court properly considered a juror’s testimony about racial bias exhibited during jury deliberations. Thus, Petitioner’s failure here to submit—or attempt to submit—any affidavit or other evidence showing juror bias is fatal to her claim of racial bias, as she has not met her burden of proving prejudice.

Although it is unclear whether an affidavit alleging juror bias based on gender identity or immigration status⁵ would “raise[] sufficient questions of fundamental fairness so as to be

the failure to request certain voir dire questions, it shows the importance of submitting *some* evidence showing that an alleged deficiency in jury selection actually caused prejudice. In other words, if our Supreme Court was unwilling to speculate as to the prejudicial impact of an attorney’s failure to exercise peremptory strikes in Magazine, then this Court should likewise be unwilling to speculate as to the prejudicial impact of counsel’s failure to request certain voir dire questions.

⁴ Rule 606(b), SCRE, makes inadmissible a juror’s testimony, affidavit, or evidence about a juror’s statement “as to any matter or statement occurring during the course of the jury’s deliberations or to the effect of anything upon that or any other juror’s mind or emotions as influencing the juror to assent to or dissent from the verdict or indictment or concerning the juror’s mental processes in connection therewith, except that a juror may testify on the question whether extraneous prejudicial information was improperly brought to the jury’s attention or whether any outside influence was improperly brought to bear upon any juror.”

⁵ The State submits the issue of whether counsel was ineffective for not requesting questions related to *immigration status* is not preserved. In its ruling, the PCR court found counsel was not ineffective for not requesting questions related to bias against transgenders and/or Mexicans; it did not address questions related to immigration status. (App. 522-24). Petitioner likewise did not specifically request a ruling on this issue in her motion to reconsider. (App. 541-43). Admittedly, the proposed order granting relief attached to Petitioner’s motion to reconsider includes a finding

admissible,” it is speculative at this point to answer this question when Petitioner has not even attempted to enter any affidavit.

The duty to attempt to submit evidence—even if the court finds it inadmissible—is akin to a party’s duty to proffer testimony when a trial court has decided it is inadmissible. See State v. Jackson, 384 S.C. 29, 34, 681 S.E.2d 17, 19 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, the failure to make a proffer of excluded evidence will preclude review on appeal.”); id. at 34 n.3, 381 S.E.2d at 20 n.3 (noting the rule requiring proffer is relaxed when a trial court refuses to allow a proffer but “[t]he threshold issue is whether [the defendant] attempted to proffer the evidence”). A proffer allows appellate courts the opportunity to evaluate the evidence so it is not speculating as to its admissibility or the prejudicial impact of its exclusion. See id. at 34, 681 S.E.2d at 19 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Where no proffer of excluded testimony is made, the court is unable to determine whether the appellant was prejudiced by the trial court’s refusal to admit the testimony into evidence.”). The same rationale applies here.

To prove prejudice, Petitioner has the burden to attempt to submit *something*, such as an affidavit, showing bias. In fact, when examining whether affidavits are properly excluded pursuant to Rule 606(b), appellate courts often examine the excluded affidavit itself. See Shumpert v. State, 378 S.C. 62, 67, 661 S.E.2d 369, 271 (examining excluded affidavit and finding “it was not necessary that the PCR court admit [it] in order to ensure fundamental fairness”); Lynch v. Carolina Self Storage Centers, Inc., 409 S.C. 146, 150-53, 760 S.E.2d 111, 114-15 (Ct. App. 2014)

that counsel “failed to request voir dire to address potential juror bias against the Applicant who is a transsexual illegal immigrant from Mexico.” (App. 541-42). However, the analysis of the proposed order focuses only on counsel’s failure to request questions about bias against “a transgendered person of Mexican origin.” (App. 542). The State submits the brief reference to the word “illegal” in the proposed order is not enough to preserve the issue of whether counsel was ineffective for not requesting questions related to immigration status.

(examining excluded affidavit to determine whether it was properly excluded under Rule 606(b)). Had Petitioner attempted to admit an affidavit or other evidence of juror bias, this Court could properly consider whether fundamental fairness required it to be admitted and then whether Petitioner was prejudiced by any bias. However, because Petitioner has not attempted to submit *anything*, this Court can only speculate about whether any juror was actually biased, and whether a reasonable probability exists that the outcome would have been different had counsel requested questions related to bias.

ii. Petitioner has not made the “extremely high showing” necessary for this Court to presume prejudice under Cronic.

Although Strickland generally requires an applicant to prove prejudice to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, there are “circumstances that are so likely to prejudice the accused that the cost of litigating their effect in a particular case is unjustified.” United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648 (1984). However, “[a] finding of per-se prejudice under [Cronic] is ‘an extremely high showing for a criminal defendant to make.’” Nance v. Ozmint, 367 S.C. 547, 552, 626 S.E.2d 878, 880 (2006) (emphasis added) (quoting Brown v. French, 147 F.3d 307, 313 (4th Cir. 1998)). Under Cronic, prejudice is presumed in three situations:

First, . . . when the defendant is completely denied counsel at a critical stage of his trial. Second, . . . if there has been a constructive denial of counsel. This happens when lawyer entirely fails to subject the prosecution’s case to a meaningful adversarial testing, thus making the adversary process itself presumptively unreliable. Third, . . . when although counsel is available to assist the accused during trial, the likelihood that any lawyer, even a fully competent one, could provide effective assistance is so small that a presumption of prejudice is appropriate without inquiry into the actual conduct of trial.

Nance, 367 S.C. at 552, 626 S.E.2d at 880 (internal quotations and citations omitted). “Absent these narrow circumstances of presumed prejudice under Cronic, defendants must show actual

prejudice under Strickland.” Id. at 552, 626 S.E.2d at 880.

Initially, the issue of whether prejudice should be presumed under Cronic is not preserved. Petitioner did not raise *any* issue with voir dire in her initial or amended application. (App. 367-76, 401). Prior to the evidentiary hearing, the State consented to proceeding on the issue of whether counsel was ineffective “for not asking questions in voir dire about whether the prospective jurors could be fair and impartial to a Mexican transvestite.” (App. 406). At the conclusion of the hearing, with respect to voir dire, PCR counsel merely argued, “I would just argue, especially the voir dire, I think, is more prejudicial than people recognize, especially with the inherent prejudice caused by having an interpreter when the defendant clearly understands some English not only from his presence in court but the video as well.” (App. 524). Although the broad issue of whether counsel was ineffective for not requesting questions related to bias was raised to and ruled upon by the PCR court, the specific argument that prejudice should be presumed was never presented to or ruled upon by the PCR court. Thus, the issue of whether prejudice should be presumed under Cronic is not preserved. See Pruitt v. State, 310 S.C. 254, 255, 423 S.E.2d 127, 128 (1992) (noting “the general rule that issues must be raised to, and ruled on by, the post-conviction judge to be preserved for appellate review”).⁶

On the merits, Petitioner has not made the “extremely high showing” that prejudice should be presumed. Petitioner does not argue—and nothing suggests—that she was (1) completely denied counsel at a critical stage of trial or (2) constructively denied counsel due to counsel’s

⁶ This is not a situation akin to Fishburne v. State, 427 S.C. 505, 832 S.E.2d 584 (2019), where then PCR court neglected to rule on an issue raised by the applicant, in contravention of section 17-27-80 of the South Carolina Code. Rather, Petitioner neglected to raise this argument *at all* to the PCR court.

complete failure to subject the State’s case to a meaningful adversarial challenge.⁷ Thus, the first two situations in Cronic do not apply.

Petitioner avers this situation fits the third scenario in Cronic. (Pet. 10). However, these facts do not show it was unlikely “that any lawyer, even a fully competent one, could provide effective assistance.” Nance, 367 S.C. at 552, 626 S.E.2d at 880. Petitioner’s trial was a straightforward trafficking-in-drugs trial. The State presented evidence showing law enforcement discovered heroin in Petitioner’s bag after receiving a tip, and Petitioner subsequently admitted to she knew drugs were there. (App. 117, 124, 128, 137, 141, 177). Trial counsel began representing Petitioner on October 31, 2013—ten months before trial—and met with her seven times. (App. 431). He provided Petitioner copies of discovery, and nothing suggests there was anything unique about the State’s evidence. (App. 431). Overall, nothing suggests this case is one “in which the surrounding circumstances make it unlikely that [Petitioner] could have received the effective assistance of counsel.” Cronic, 466 U.S. at 666; contra Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932) (holding defendants in a capital case “were not accorded the right of counsel in any substantial sense” when the trial court “appointed all the members of the bar for the purpose of arraigning them,” did not appoint specific counsel until the morning of trial, and did not give defendants a reasonable opportunity to procure their own counsel).⁸ Thus, this case does not fit the third situation outlined in Cronic.

Further, in the context of direct appeals, our Supreme Court requires a criminal defendant to demonstrate prejudice before she is entitled to a new trial based on jury misconduct. See State

⁷ In fact, a review of the transcript shows counsel subjected the State’s case to a meaningful adversarial challenge.

⁸ Cronic cited Powell as an example of the third situation when prejudiced could be presumed. 466 U.S. at 660.

v. Aldret, 333 S.C. 307, 509 S.E.2d 811 (“Given that we have not found automatic reversal warranted even in cases of external influences on a jury’s verdict, we decline to do so in cases of internal misconduct consisting of premature deliberations.”). Although Petitioner’s claim involves allegations that a juror *may have been* biased rather than allegations of juror misconduct, both situations concern whether a criminal defendant had an impartial jury—and by extension, a fair trial. It is not logical to presume juror bias without requiring evidence of actual bias when our caselaw requires evidence of juror misconduct before a defendant is entitled to a new trial. Likewise, it is not logical to presume prejudice in the context of PCR when a similar issue on direct appeal requires an actual showing of prejudice. This situation does not fit any of three scenarios outlined in Cronic, and Petitioner has failed to make the “extremely high showing” required of Cronic. Thus, this Court should not presume prejudice.

B. The PCR court properly found trial counsel was not deficient.

Deficiency under Strickland turns on whether “counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. “The proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Id. In evaluating the reasonableness of an attorney’s performance, courts must evaluate decisions “from counsel’s perspective at the time” and make every effort “to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight.” Id. at 689. Additionally, “court[s] must indulge a strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.” Id. The burden is on a PCR applicant to overcome this presumption. Id.

Trial counsel’s failure to request voir dire questions related to juror bias was reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Importantly, no standard requires criminal defense attorneys to request voir dire questions about bias. In fact, the United States Supreme Court “has noted the

dilemma faced by trial court judges and counsel in deciding whether to explore potential racial bias at voir dire.” Pena-Rodriguez v. United States, 137 S. Ct. 855, 869 (2017). As the Court explained, “Generic questions about juror impartiality may not expose specific attitudes or biases that can poison jury deliberations. Yet more pointed questions ‘could well exacerbate whatever prejudice might exist without substantially aiding in exposing it.’” Id. (quoting Rosales-Lopez v. U.S., 451 U.S. 182, (1981) (Rehnquist, J., concurring in result)). Thus, no standard exists requiring an attorney to request such questions.

Further, counsel articulated a valid reason for not requesting such questions. Trial counsel stated he would not normally request questions about bias against illegal immigrants or transgender individuals, averring such questions could draw attention to those issues and “antagonize a juror to think that [he thinks] that they’re all prejudiced.” (App. 445). He explained, “[I]n the same way I don’t ask whether they can be fair to a black client or a white client[,] I don’t ask about their gender or sexuality either.” (App. 451). Viewed objectively, this was a valid reason for not requesting these questions. See Pena-Rodriguez, 137 S. Ct. at 869. (noting “[g]eneric questions about juror impartiality may not expose specific attitudes or biases,” whereas more pointed questions could exacerbate whatever prejudice might already exist).

Additionally, although counsel believed the duress defense required discussing Petitioner’s transgender status to explain why she illegally reentered the United States, he was unsure at the time of voir dire whether she would testify. (App. 433-35, 445). Trial counsel recalled Petitioner wore a gender-neutral outfit to trial: a button-down shirt with slacks and no tie. (App. 446). He addressed her as “Mr. Rodrigiez” because that was how she was charged, that was the way he had always addressed her, and he was never told to address her in any other way. (App. 446). Counsel explained he “didn’t want to get into the whole situation with the jury at that time.” (App. 446).

Due to counsel’s uncertainty about whether Petitioner would testify—in which cases her gender identity and immigration status would not be proper issues before the jury—it was reasonable for counsel to not request voir dire about potential juror bias.⁹

Viewed as a whole and from counsel’s perspective at the time of voir dire, counsel’s decision was objectively reasonable. Petitioner has not overcome the strong presumption that counsel rendered effective assistance. Thus, the PCR court properly found Petitioner did not prove deficiency, and this Court should deny certiorari.

⁹ As noted previously, Petitioner’s failure to submit evidence about racial bias is fatal to that portion of his claim since such evidence would be admissible under Hunter.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to prove trial counsel was ineffective for not requesting voir dire questions related to potential bias. Thus, this Court should deny certiorari.